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OVERVIEW

The financial year 2024/25 recorded a surplus of $454
million ($1,162 million for 2023/24). The substantial
reduction of surplus in 2024/25 was mainly due to the
one-off refund of the General and Development Reserve
Fund to University Grant Committee (UGC). By
excluding the impact of investment return, the University
recorded a deficit of $1,042 million in 2024/25 compared
to a surplus of $73 million in 2023/24.

The University has practised Environmental, Social and
Corporate Governance (“ESG”) investing since 2018.
Currently, over 75% of the investments are managed by
fund managers who are signatories of United Nations
Principles of Responsible Investment. As a result, the
exposure of the University’s investments to fossil fuels is
80% lower than the benchmark and virtually zero
exposure to controversial sectors such as tobacco and
weapons. Through active engagement by the fund
managers, the University aims to influence portfolio
companies to align with the Net Zero objective.

CONSOLIDATED INCOME AND EXPENDITURE

Consolidated income decreased by $123 million to
$7,394 million in 2024/25 ($7,517 million for 2023/24).
The decrease was primarily driven by the one-off refund
of the General and Development Reserve Fund to UGC.

Additionally, there was an increase in interest and net
investment income of $407 million resulting from robust
performance of the University’s public equity, fixed
income and hedge fund investments boosted by strong
company earnings growth and the prospect of continued
monetary easing by central banks. This was along with
growth in tuition fees from more non-local students
intake and Self-financing Continuing Professional
Education Programs, which amounted to $216 million as
compared to last year.

Consolidated expenditure increased by $591 million to
$6,935 million ($6,344 million for 2023/24). The
increase was mainly attributable to higher salaries and
benefits costs mainly due to salary increment and
increase in headcounts, as well as the increase in
operating expenses due to the growth in teaching,
learning and research expenses.
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SEGMENT RESULTS

Commentaries on operating segments, analysed by UGC-
Funded Activities and non-UGC Funded Activities, are
as follows:

UGC-Funded Activities

UGC-Funded Activities showed a deficit of $711 million
for the year (surplus of $344 million for 2023/24). This
notable shift from surplus to deficit was primarily due to
the one-time refund of the General and Development
Reserve Fund by UGC. Additionally, the deficit was
driven by increased salary and benefits costs resulting
from salary increments and a rise in headcount, as well as
higher operating expenses linked to the growth in
teaching, learning, and research activities. After
excluding the interest and net investment income of $584
million ($449 million for 2023/24), the underlying result
was a deficit of $1,295 million ($105 million for
2023/24).

Non-UGC Funded Activities

Self-Financing Continuing Professional Education
Programs, Research and Other Activities

Self-financing Continuing  Professional Education
Programs contributed a surplus of $462 million ($374
million for 2023/24). Research and other activities
contributed a surplus of $354 million ($212 million for
2023/24). In aggregate, the overall surplus of these
operating segments amounted to $816 million ($586
million for 2023/24).

Donations Activities

Donations totalling $183 million were recognised as
income for 2024/25 ($163 million for 2023/24). Overall,
this segment showed a surplus of $349 million ($232
million for 2023/24) as contributed by the increase in
investment return. The University has successfully
secured $299 million new pledges in 2024/25 ($764
million in 2023/24).

Non-UGC Reserves

Non-UGC reserve balances reached $11,190 million at
the end of 2024/25 ($9,998 million for 2023/24). The
increase in the reserve balance was mainly contributed by
the afore-stated investment return, self-financing CPEP
and other activities.
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Campus development continues both on and off-campus.
Several capital projects are underway to enhance the
University’s facilities and infrastructure, addressing the
needs of students and supporting teaching, learning, and
research.

The Jockey Club i-Village Halls of Residence is
completed and will be occupied in phases starting in the
2025-26 academic year. Construction of three new
research buildings and the high-performance computing
facilities is ongoing.

To address the on-campus space constraints and facilitate
further expansion needs, the University has leased office
space and developed new educational facilities in Kwun
Tong to create designated areas for learning and
collaboration. Additionally, the University has recently
acquired a property in Admiralty to facilitate University’s
long term development in new education programs,
alumni  development, corporate  outreach  and
communication engagement.

Together, these developments underscore our
commitment to providing an enriching environment that
supports both academic excellence and student well-
being.
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OUTLOOK

In response to the Hong Kong Government’s “Study in
Hong Kong” campaign, HKUST has intensified its
recruitment efforts. For the 2025/26 academic year, the
University has received a record number of non-local
undergraduate applications. This unprecedented influx is
expected to bring HKUST’s non-local student intake for
the 2025/26 academic year to the maximum of 40%
allowed by the government. This diversity allows us to
cultivate a multicultural campus that shapes leaders who
thrive in a connected world.

To foster innovation and entrepreneurship, the University
has established the HKUST Redbird Innovation Fund
(RIF) with a total commitment of $500 million. This
fund aims to create multiple Venture Investment Fund
(VIFs) worth $2 billion in collaboration with investment
partners. In the past year, the inaugural VIF with a target
fund size of $600 million has been established under the
RIF framework.

As of 30 June 2025, the University maintained a healthy
reserve of $15.1 billion. The University will continue to
be prudent and flexible in its financial planning, ensuring
that adequate resources are available for future
development. As we enter the new 2025-28 triennium,
the University remains dedicated to offering world-class
education and research, and delivering impact through
internationalisation, innovation and interdisciplinarity.

Stephen YIU Kin-Wah
Treasurer of the University
28 October 2025
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To : The Council of The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (the
“University”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 9 to 62, which comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 30 June 2025, the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statements of
changes in fund balances and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, comprising material
accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 30 June 2025, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology Ordinance ("The HKUST
Ordinance").

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Information other than the consolidated financial
statements and auditor's report thereon

The Council of the University is responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included in the treasurer’s report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

Responsibilities of the Council and the Audit Committee
of the University for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Council of the University is responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the HKICPA and the HKUST
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Council
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Council is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the Council either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Council is assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging its responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with the HKUST Ordinance and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional  judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the Council.
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e Conclude on the appropriateness of the Council’s use
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or,
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

e Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee of the
University regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Yau Ngai Lun, Alan
(practising certificate number: P06436).

KPMG
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 October 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

2025 2024
=3 BHEIT BHEIT
Notes $million $million
WA
Income
BN & B R Hg K 3.1 2,639 3,560
Government Subventions and Grants
B2 IR R EAE 1,932 1,716
Tuition, Programs and Other Fees
FIEFCFHEE WA 3.2 1,496 1,089
Interest and Net Investment Income
SRFIERK 183 163
Donations and Benefactions
BN AR TS S ELM A 33 645 616
Auxiliary Services and Other Income
TS IR EE AR S 16/25.13 499 373
Transfers from Deferred Capital Funds
7,394 7,517
X 35
Expenditure
BE -~ Bl ot
Teaching, Learning and Research
B RIS 4,370 3,978
Teaching and Research
B EeE 120 118
Library
rp R R R 179 233
Central Computing Facilities
HA AR 148 139
Other Academic Services
4817 4,468
W%
Institutional Support
B R — BT 629 546
Management and General
e KA R 1,009 900
Premises and Related Expenses
B4 K — R E IR 445 398
Student and General Education Services
HA 5 35 32
Other Activities
2,118 1,876
6,935 6,344
FEERERLR 459 1,173

Surplus from operation for the year
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONT’D)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

Fifhlee A w AR EE
Share of Results of the Associates

R ERATRER

Surplus for the year before tax

IR

Tax

FEEMKEER

Surplus for the year after tax

HERZ H A HE S

Other comprehensive income for the year

HAgEER E WA RB S/ E
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to income and
expenditure:

SN 2R

Exchange differences arising from translation

FETEERE ARG SZHHEE ¢

Item that will not be reclassified to income and expenditure:

HANHEEE R HAM 2 E U RIS R
ZEIF

Unrealised gain on equity securities at fair value
through other comprehensive income

FHEEWSEER

Total comprehensive income for the year

BEE) E:

Transfers (from) / to:

BEgES
UGC Funds

PR E
Restricted Funds

HAth B
Other Funds

10

2025 2024
b= BHET HEIT
Notes $million $million
10 (@) (10)
455 1,163
5 (D ()
454 1,162
25.17(b) 5 (1)
5 ey
22 285
27 284
481 1,446
(711) 344
180 152
1,012 950
481 1,446
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE 2025
2025 2024
[ihE=3 BET BET
Notes $million $million
SEREIRE
Non-Current Assets
LUE R o ] 6 8,704 8,102
Property, Plant and Equipment
AR 7 18 15
Intangible Assets
R 8 204 92
Right-of-use Assets
o PAE B A 2 U Y R i i i e 9 919 897
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
A PEEBECGEUIR Y B EE 9 12,384 11,500
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Income and Expenditure
PRE R 10 128 82
Interest in Associates
JEREHA H R 8 =l 5 2 E B 12 44 0
Bank Deposits with Original Maturity over Three Months
22,401 20,688
ENEE
Current Assets
e ! :
Inventories
BRSNS TR R 11 953 784
Accounts Receivable and Prepayments
JRFIHA HE 8 = 2 & B 12 2,422 1,855
Bank Deposits with Original Maturity over Three Months
R4 R 4 12 1,118 1,100
Cash and Cash Equivalents
4,494 3,740
REAE
Current Liabilities
JERTRRR MR T 13 2,239 1,107
Accounts Payable and Accruals
THE &R 8 34 14
Lease Liabilities
HUW BRI 14 228 181
Provision for Staff Benefits
PRIEUT S 15 2,121 1,757
Deferred Income
JERFRRIH 0 1
Tax Payable
4,622 3,060
RENER)/EERE (128) 680
Net Current (Liabilities)/ Assets
HESERRSER 22,273 21,368

Total Assets Less Current Liabilities
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GEREARER (8)

20254E6 3305
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (CONT’D)
AS AT 30 JUNE 2025
2025 2024
g BET BET
Notes $million $million

EIDTE 1=
Non-Current Liabilities

BRI TS T2 13 131 84

Accounts Payable and Accruals

HE&H 8 177 75

Lease Liabilities

P B rE R 14 46 52

Provision for Staff Benefits

PEAEW 15 549 617

Deferred Income

IRIEE A K 16 6,262 5,913

Deferred Capital Funds

7,165 6,741
BEFE 15,108 14,627
NET ASSETS
HEGES 17 3,918 4,629
UGC Funds
RS 17 2,364 2,120
Restricted Funds
HphE S 17 8,826 7,878
Other Funds
B 15,108 14,627
TOTAL FUNDS
MG 2025410 H 28 H I AR T i
Approved by the Council on 28 October 2025
P X Ase A
RELE]HE R Bl (1780
Stephen YIU Kin-Wah Nancy IP Yuk-Yu TAM Kar-Yan
Treasurer of the University President Vice-President for

12
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SROECBER
EZE20255E6 H30H I

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

FREIEE S
BEgEE Restricted HAEE -]
UGC Funds Funds Other Funds Total Funds
BET BET BHET BET
Smillion $million $million $million
(HFsE 17) (HFE17) (HFE17)
(Note 17) (Note 17) (Note 17)
202347 H 1 H 2 456 4,285 1,963 6,933 13,181
Balance as at 1 July 2023
RN/ (&) S8
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year
AN R B bR 344 152 666 1,162
Surplus for the year after tax
Hetrgmls /1 (54t
Other comprehensive income / (loss)
N T IE R H A 2 U TR 2 R BB 2 B R 0 0 285 285
Unrealised gain on equity securities at fair value through
other comprehensive income
NI 2 0 0 Q)] (€]
Exchange differences arising from translation
344 152 950 1,446
A 0 5 ) 0
Inter-fund transfer
20244E6 H30 H F2024F7 H 1 H Z 456k 4,629 2,120 7,878 14,627
Balance as at 30 June 2024 and 1 July 2024
FENREGS / (F54) 4888
Total comprehensive income / (loss) for the year
KERERR (RHR) / &gk (711) 180 985 454
(Deficit)/ Surplus for the year after tax
HoAth 2T UGS
Other comprehensive income
FEA AR AR HA 2 T s 5 AR AR RERS Z3 R BB 2 B 0 0 22 22
Unrealised gain on equity securities at fair value through
other comprehensive income
SN 22 0 0 5 5
Exchange differences arising from translation
(711) 180 1,012 481
- 0 64 (64) 0
Inter-fund transfer
20254F6 H30H 2 456 3,918 2,364 8,826 15,108

Balance as at 30 June 2025
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SEBSMER

BE202556 H30H IR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

BERSHIRERE
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
EEFERUAT B R
Surplus for the year before tax
ke
Adjustments for:
T R s
Depreciation and amortisation
THE AR RA

Finance cost of lease liabilities

YIS - SRR 2Bk
Loss on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment

FSRFHREUA

Interest and net investment income

el e A B AR R4

Share of results of associates

BB HIEE AR S

Transfers from deferred capital funds

Rl HEFE A BB S 2 E
Operating cash flow before movements in working capital

FEWSTRR R TR R 2 S

Increase in accounts receivable and prepayments

FETRRFICR &S A 30

Increase in accounts payable and accruals

RFEWZE 84 hn /- CRD )
Increase/ (Decrease) in deferred income

BB S ER R 2

Increase in provision for staff benefits

BEEHIHSRA / ORd)
Cash Generated from/ (Used in) Operating Activities

SR R SEATER

China corporate income tax paid
BT

Hong Kong profits tax paid

BEEMFHSRA / (Rl
Net Cash Generated from/ (Used in) Operating Activities

14

2025 2024
HET HETT
$million $million
455 1,163
662 529
8 2
4 0
(1,496) (1,089)
4 10
(499) (373)
(862) 242
(159) (149)
1,088 118
126 (329)
41 26
234 (92)
1) )]
0 0
233 (93)




SroBEmErR (&)
EZE 202556 H30H 1L E
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONT’D)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2025

2025
El=2

$million

2024
Sl

$million

REFSBERE

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

BV ~ PSR i (1,138)

Payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment

HIEYE ~ TS R ATRUA 1

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment

iR T A an
Payment for purchase of intangible assets

FREH BB =6 R 2 E MR Gy /Db (608)

(Increase)/ Decrease in bank deposits with original maturity over three months

MR A P EEEEA S E SR R s

Purchase of financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

EET A PEEBICRIR Z M B & E (1,184)

Purchase of financial assets at fair value through income and expenditure

IS A EEE (50)
Capital injection to an associate

TR AN BB B A 2 T R B AR 2 P 348 P {5 I [l A 22
Proceeds from redemption of financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

HEE A HEEBICGUIRZ M EEZ A 1,676
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value through income and
expenditure

EWHUZ RS AU 105

Interest and investment income received

(1,293)

(7

525

(6)

(2,263)

1,861

133

REEEFHR SR (1,202)
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

(1,050)

REEE BERE

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

FLUEEYEE - 1R Rt R B 2 B RESIRARRUA 1,016
Subventions and grants and donations received for purchase of property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets

TS AR (28)

Payment of lease liabilities

(12)

BEESRHERA 988

Net Cash Generated from Financing Activities

799

BER SRS M [ (&) 19

Net Increase/ (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents

ENZHERERHS 1,100
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Year

ER S e 1
Effect of Foreign Exchange Rate Changes

(344)

1,444

FRIBEREFBE 1,118
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Year

1,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

—f3Re

RS BREREMS (F&E
P ——PU—=) THRIL > R—FEIRERR TR
REE > BUR(RMEERE KR > MRFRIEER T
gt ~ WIFEAEBE TENILAER - DU B AT
THRARESE - RENIHEA S EZEE)
B MBS TEE 22 4 -

KA AL R L BB B TR

GEMBEHRRIETT2E BTN AR
EWEW - AREHTEGR20255F10H28 H X
MILEF S BRI -

GEVBIE BT RGN A ER i T
IS EE R B E eI
BEEEBHIBCA T RS (TR EEES
) LERBEEYZES ( TH8Eg, ) &b
FRHIRESRAEA ("R ) TR -

PRLAT &R AFHEYIRIN > GrEBmER)y
RS 2 BN A AR

— EAHEEBWCGEOR M EE
-

HEEEHA e eI
FE

BT O BB B IS G TR SR I 58
REREAETRREHER > IREEH
e E M FH SR B 5 U A AR A 2 P LR -
AR R LA P T SSGrss AR M MR P s > L
SRR A s T 7R B s R il B e
» ERMTEE 24P -

REZ B IR ESINREL -

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology is
incorporated under The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology Ordinance (Chapter 1141, Laws of Hong
Kong) as a technological university dedicated to the
advancement of learning and scholarship, with special
emphasis on research, postgraduate education, and close
collaboration with business and industry. The principal
activities and other particulars of the University’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 22.

The University’s registered address and principal place of
operation is Clear Water Bay, Hong Kong.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”), which is the Group’s
presentation currency. These consolidated financial
statements were approved for issue by the Council on 28
October 2025.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”), Cost Allocation Guidelines for
UGC funded and non-UGC funded Activities (“the
Guidelines”), and the Statement of Recommended
Practice (“SORP”) for institutions funded by the
University Grants Committee (“UGC”) in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis under the historical cost
convention, except for the following assets which are
stated at fair value:

— financial assets at fair value through income and
expenditure

— financial assets at fair value other

comprehensive income

through

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires
the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements, are
disclosed in Note 24.

Financial statements for the University have been
prepared separately.
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3.

ST A B BASE
INCOME AND EXPENDITURE BY SEGMENT

(a)  SRANEECE (AR

Consolidated Segment Income and Expenditure (By function)

2025 2024
SEEZ S
£ g R e BEY RBIEH
HHTES Inter-segment ERES Inter-segment
UGC-Funded FBRGRIER) Transaction SpEET UGC-Funded El=a=g- gt Transaction SPYEE]
Activities Non-UGC Funded Activities Elimination Net Total Activities Non-UGC Funded Activities Elimination Net Total
BARRBEE Sp=tiel cpaisit
EEREEY = PSRy HAtrER) EEREED RHpER S HAtriERy
Self-financing Research Donation Other INef Self-financing Research Donation Other INE
CPEP Activities Activities Activities Activities Sub-total CPEP Activities Activities Activities Activities Sub-total
HETT HETT HET HET BET HETT HETT BET HET HETT BET HET BHET HET HET BHET
$million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million
() ()
(Note) (Note)
KA
Income
BURF&ERD R (e 3.1) 2,369 0 60 0 210 270 0 2,639 3,264 0 66 0 230 296 0 3,560
Government subventions and grants (Note 3.1)
R AR R HLAUG 837 1,095 0 0 0 1,095 0 1,932 771 945 0 0 0 945 0 1,716
Tuition, programs and other fees
FE AU A (3 3.2) 584 19 0 412 481 912 0 1,496 449 26 0 289 325 640 0 1,089
Interest and net investment income (Note 3.2)
PN~ 0 0 0 183 0 183 0 183 0 0 0 163 0 163 0 163
Donations and benefactions
EEBNAR S R A A (FEE 3.3) 203 21 154 3 410 588 (146) 645 181 21 145 1 405 572 (137) 616
Auxiliary services and other income (Note 3.3)
TR E IR A S 364 0 17 118 0 135 0 499 264 0 17 89 3 109 0 373
Transfers from deferred capital funds
4,357 1,135 231 716 1,101 3,183 (146) 7,394 4,929 992 228 542 963 2,725 (137) 7,517
Bz (M 3.5)
Expenditure (Note 3.5)
HEE ~ BT R
Teaching, Learning and Research
Y 3,351 537 235 169 160 1,101 (82) 4,370 3,083 494 226 60 188 968 (73) 3,978
Teaching and research
I e 96 24 0 0 0 24 0 120 95 23 0 0 0 23 0 118
Library
L R 163 15 1 0 0 16 0 179 147 16 1 69 0 86 0 233
Central computing facilities
HANZER R 125 1 1 4 18 24 1) 148 110 1 1 6 22 30 (1) 139
Other academic services
RS i%
Institutional Support
B R 380 31 2 45 228 306 (57) 629 345 31 1 41 188 261 (60) 546
Management and general
e A e 753 50 6 116 84 256 0 1,009 648 39 4 104 105 252 0 900
Premises and related expenses
B B A RS 200 15 0 33 203 251 (6) 445 157 14 0 30 200 244 3) 398
Student and general education services
HoAtES) 0 0 0 0 35 35 0 35 0 0 0 0 32 32 0 32
Other activities
5,068 673 245 367 728 2,013 (146) 6,935 4,585 618 233 310 735 1,896 (137) 6,344
AEERE (BR) Ft% (711) 462 (14) 349 373 1,170 0 459 344 374 %) 232 228 829 0 1,173
(Deficit)/Surplus from operation for the year
Bl s Sl AL A 0 0 0 0 (C) () 0 (C) 0 0 0 0 (10) (10) 0 (10)
Share of result of an associate
FIE 0 0 0 0 (1) ) 0 ) 0 0 0 0 (1) () 0 )
Tax
REEETRE (BER) /ZJeE (711) 462 (14) 349 368 1,165 0 454 344 374 %) 232 217 818 0 1,162
(Deficit)/ Surplus for the year after tax
FEER® (R  BREEE
(Deficit) / Surplus for the year after tax transferred to:
BagEe (711) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (711) 344 0 0 0 0 0 0 344
UGC Funds
PR 0 0 0 180 0 180 0 180 0 0 0 152 0 152 0 152
Restricted Funds
oA AE 0 462 (14) 169 368 985 0 985 0 374 %) 80 217 666 0 666
Other Funds
(711) 462 (14) 349 368 1,165 0 454 344 374 [©) 232 217 818 0 1,162
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SEWA KB (8)

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE BY SEGMENT (CONT’D)

(b)  EREDER (GREEHEE)

Consolidated Segment Expenditure (By accounting nature)

s (M 3.5)

SR

2025 2024
AEHEZ bayilcivd
BEY il EE prdotis ]
KEEE) Inter-segment EEES) Inter-segment
UGC-Funded JEBE G EREE) Transaction TR UGC-Funded JERE G ERES) Transaction JRGEET
Activities Non-UGC Funded Activities Elimination Net Total Activities Non-UGC Funded Activities Elimination Net Total
BREBZRE BREBZNE
EEBEER RIHES) FreHsUEs) FAES) EEBEED FHEES) FreHRES) HAES)
Self-financing Research Donation Other et Self-financing Research Donation Other JNeT
CPEP Activities Activities Activities Activities Sub-total CPEP Activities Activities Activities Activities Sub-total
BET BET BET BET BET BHET BHET BEET BEET BET BET HET BET BET BET BET
$million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million $million
(F6) (FH)
(Note) (Note)
Expenditure (Note 3.5)
SRR FEF 2,970 395 91 63 157 706 0 3,676 2,722 375 78 44 154 651 0 3,373
Salaries and benefits
Hf S 1,730 242 129 145 497 1,013 (146) 2,597 1,603 219 129 138 490 976 (137) 2,442
Other operating expenses
TR RS 368 36 25 159 74 294 0 662 260 24 26 128 91 269 0 529
Depreciation and amortisation
5,068 673 245 367 728 2,013 (146) 6,935 4,585 618 233 310 735 1,896 (137) 6,344
Total Expenditure

7 PG EEAREAE e SEA

Note: Inter-segment transactions mainly included internal rental transactions.

st -

Remarks:

T B R S B eI g A B AL T o0 2 AR B B TS A 85 T B8 ) BT

Disclosures regarding segment reporting are included as a requirement of the Statement of Recommended Practice for the UGC-Funded Institutions and are not designed to fully comply with the requirements of HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

HEOE TR B OE ) EB L7 BE5] ( TR RI55 ), )
Cost Allocation Guidelines for UGC-funded and non-UGC-funded activities (“the Guidelines”)

FEEEHE BN AT IHGT] ) T BT -

The Group follows the Guidelines issued by the UGC to allocate their costs, which is summarised as follows:

— LB E B8 T BRI R AR BT T LT - TZ A (IS 7 -

There should be no hidden subsidy to avoid dilution of UGC-funded resources and unfair competition with the private sector;

— P HIAFE EBAT B % 558 2 BRI -

All direct costs which can be separately attributable to specific activities should be fully taken up and borne by such activities;

— PTA TR R B A EB B T R~ TTERFBEIRT) - A5 FHRZZBAINL A - RIE G T PHNLAIEN 2 > S IEVEE G I B 57

All indirect costs, such as centrally provided facilities, administrative and support services, which cannot be separately attributable to specific activities, are allocated as shared costs to UGC and non-UGC segments based on cost allocation methodologies set out in the Guidelines.

18




3.1

3.2

33

GOVERNMENT SUBVENTIONS AND GRANTS

2025 2024
HET EET
$million $million

RGBT REK - 5 2,488 2,566
UGC recurrent block grant, gross
W — R RRE (5L a) (827) 0
Less: Refund of General and Development Reserve Fund (Note a)
PRGBS - P (R 15) 1,661 2,566
UGC recurrent block grant, net (Note 15)
BEGIEERR (HFE15) 397 360
UGC earmarked grants (Note 15)
BURFBRISRE R ERSK (I 15) 486 547
Earmarked grants from government agencies (Note 15)
BB HAM BT RS (3L b) 9 1
Matching grants and other government subsidies (Note b)
WZERCEESRR (L 15) 38 39
Research matching grants (Note 15)
pia3i=pact:c)-aiugizl 48 47
Rates and government rent refunds

2,639 3,560
Mzt :
Notes :

(a)  BE20254F6 /930 HLILFE » EE BB B AR AR 4 B F BT (= TN E N30T (20243F © ) [l »
BEFIRF RN 7 (@)
For the year ended 30 June 2025, the amounts of UGC recurrent block grant has been reduced by the refund of $826.6 million
(2024: Nil) to the HKSAR Government. Details of the refund are set out in Note 17(a).

(b)  FAER o BRI T FEE G BB FBAEHRR (20244F - %) -
No matching grants were launched by the government for UGC funded activities during the year (2024: Nil).

FIEFIFREBA
INTEREST AND NET INVESTMENT INCOME
2025 2024
BHET HET
$million $Smillion

FEUA 112 112
Interest income
BN HEEBBCGUIR Z B A E 2 AP EZE) (k) 1,383 976
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through income and expenditure (Note)
FEN B A S W s VIR 2 I Z R U 1 1
Investment income on financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

1,496 1,089

Wt : IR % CE AR BT 2 k7 » ARG 2 EFEE -

Note : Amounts included realised / unrealised gain or loss and before deduction of fund management fee.

BRI RS B HARUA
AUXILIARY SERVICES AND OTHER INCOME
2025 2024
HET EET
$million $million

HREL 138 135
Research contracts
B 181 169
Student hostels
THEBA 28 29
Rental income
BB 55 53
Rental contribution from staff
RS UcEs ~ T B U A S H A B 94 84
Services fees, workshop income and other sponsorships
THEEE) (K 15) 99 102
Project sponsorships (Note 15)
FEEA 50 44
Miscellaneous

645 616
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34

lresvag:|
DISAGGREGATION OF REVENUE

2025
FPE
Revenue from contracts with customers
FAHE— IR RERY PERF R RE HA AR 7 HaER
recognised at a recognised over Revenue from Total
point in time time other sources
HETT HETT HETT HETT
$million $million $million $million
BUNE B R $55K 0 0 2,639 2,639
Government subventions and grants
B - SRR R H A 0 1,932 0 1,932
Tuition, programs and other fees
FIEFGFHEERA 0 0 1,496 1,496
Interest and net investment income
FAFIERR 0 0 183 183
Donations and benefactions
T Bh AR e B A 45 193 407 645
Auxiliary services and other income
RS EIRAE A AR 0 0 499 499
Transfers from deferred capital funds
45 2,125 5224 7,394
2024
EaEEE [l
Revenue from contracts with customers
FAFE— BT PERF R ARE HA AR 7 “aER
recognised at a recognised over Revenue from Total
point in time time other sources
HETT HETT HETT HETT
$million $million $million $million
BUNE B R 55K 0 0 3,560 3,560
Government subventions and grants
B - SRR R H A 0 1,716 0 1,716
Tuition, programs and other fees
FEFOFHEEUA 0 0 1,089 1,089
Interest and net investment income
SRR 0 0 163 163
Donations and benefactions
TfBh AR e B A 44 188 384 616
Auxiliary services and other income
RS EIRIE A AR 0 0 373 373
Transfers from deferred capital funds
44 1,904 5,569 7,517
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35 BX

EXPENDITURE

4EFE / Year 2025
BE - BTRHA
Teaching, Learning and Research
BRI
Teaching and research
5 6H
Library
R R
Central computing facilities
HABER A%
Other academic services
/Nt
Sub-total

B
Institutional Support

B R R
Management and general
& KAk A
Premises and related expenses
B R AR
Student and general education services
HoAtES)
Other activities
Nat
Sub-total
il

Total Expenditure

4EJ¥ / Year 2024
BE - BTRR
Teaching, Learning and Research
BERF S
Teaching and research
[EE e
Library
REEALE B
Central computing facilities
HAZER S
Other academic services
Nat
Sub-total
Bz
Institutional Support
BRI
Management and general
e KA
Premises and related expenses
B R B E RS
Student and general education services
HAtES)
Other activities
Nat
Sub-total
HABHSZ

Total Expenditure

At BT =585 1
T B AEF] Other Depreciation
Salaries and Operating and st
Benefits Expenses Amortisation Total
BET BET BET BET
$million $million $million $million
2,763 1,338 269 4,370
61 58 1 120
89 64 26 179
108 39 1 148
3,021 1,499 297 4817
338 280 11 629
207 451 351 1,009
109 333 3 445
1 34 0 35
655 1,098 365 2,118
3,676 2,597 662 6,935
2,542 1,238 198 3,978
60 57 1 118
86 128 19 233
102 36 1 139
2,790 1,459 219 4,468
299 239 8 546
188 412 300 900
95 301 2 398
1 31 0 32
583 983 310 1,876
3,373 2,442 529 6,344

e KR BRI B SUE BEGR IR T BIFT S A 2 R e — T 2 E T (20244 1 Zf5T) -
Included in salaries and benefits are the Group’s contributions towards defined contribution retirement benefits schemes totalling $212 million (2024: $200

million).
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WA B TH
REMUNERATION OF HIGHER PAID STAFF

BTHH
Number of Employees
2025 2024

FEHEFE

Annual Equivalent Remuneration

HKS 1,800,001 - 1,950,000 60 69
HKS 1,950,001 - 2,100,000 58 49
HKS 2,100,001 - 2,250,000 47 54
HKS 2,250,001 - 2,400,000 61 44
HKS 2,400,001 - 2,550,000 47 36
HKS 2,550,001 - 2,700,000 26 29
HKS 2,700,001 - 2,850,000 29 23
HKS 2,850,001 - 3,000,000 16 15
HKS 3,000,001 - 3,150,000 15 11
HKS 3,150,001 - 3,300,000 12 9
HKS$ 3,300,001 - 3,450,000 14 14
HKS 3,450,001 - 3,600,000 8 5
HKS 3,600,001 - 3,750,000 6
HKS 3,750,001 - 3,900,000 3 10
HKS 3,900,001 - 4,050,000 10 3
HKS 4,050,001 - 4,200,000 5 5
HKS 4,200,001 - 4,350,000 3 6
HKS 4,350,001 - 4,500,000 6 2
HKS 4,500,001 - 4,650,000 3 4
HKS 4,650,001 - 4,800,000 0 1
HKS 4,800,001 - 4,950,000 2 0
HKS 4,950,001 - 5,100,000 1 2
HK$S 5,100,001 - 5,250,000 2 1
HKS 5,250,001 - 5,400,000 0 1
HKS 5,400,001 - 5,550,000 2 2
HK$ 5,550,001 - 5,700,000 2 1
HKS 5,850,001 - 6,000,000 1 0
HKS 7,050,001 - 7,200,000 0 1
HKS 7,350,001 - 7,500,000 1 0

FriFE TR ~ FE B FI - B BB - FEREMER - EAELE
g B E R &7 I T BB = AT 1 (B Z P E e e < iR A= AR (E 7 1 H
Remuneration includes salaries, gratuities, contributions to retirement schemes, consultancy fees paid by
the Group, housing and other benefits. For staff who are provided with quarters, their housing benefits are

calculated by reference to the rateable values assessed by the Rating and Valuation Department of the
Government of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
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B
TAX

Gre RIS

Income tax in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income represents:

2025 2024
BHETT BHETT
$million $million

BRI 1 1
Hong Kong profits tax
R EFTERL 0 0
China corporate income tax

1 1

REFFERE (RIBRE1) 55 88 iR L AUE SR R8T - IR TR IR -
No tax is provided for operations of the University that meet the exemption criteria under Section 88 of the
Inland Revenue Ordinance.

EEEBRBA T EEEMNGHRETR SRR - TEBATILI16.5% (20244 1 16.5% ) HIFFGTHEEE
FIEHL - By BT A T Ty h B AT Si RoR R R BIDUESF R 5t B -

Hong Kong subsidiaries of the Group are subject to Hong Kong profits tax. The provision for Hong Kong profits
tax is calculated at 16.5% (2024: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits of these subsidiaries for the year.
Tax for the PRC subsidiaries of the Group is charged at the appropriate prevailing rates of tax in the PRC.

& BEIER A T RE AR ER A T A AR F s - SEEA MR AR R A - AR i B 8 S 5 R A T
R IRERRIAEE RO —T—H A& (20245 1 —TtE=1&7T) » HAKEBREEEN/\THESET (20
245 T RTILEANTETT) - ZE BN A SRS IR E20 12 2030 Rl B -

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the
related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The PRC subsidiaries of the Group have not
recognised deferred income tax assets of approximately $21.5 million (2024: $17.3 million) in respect of
cumulative losses amounting to approximately $85 million (2024: $69.6 million). The tax losses for the PRC
subsidiaries will expire on various dates up to 2030.
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6.

YISE ~ ER R

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

5%
COST

20234E7H L H 2 &5
Balance as at 1 July 2023

NE
Additions

s

Transfers

iR

Disposals

VRS2 724

Exchange translation difference

202446 H30H K7 H 1 H 2 &6k
Balance as at 30 June and 1 July 2024

NE
Additions

[ e
Transfers
R
Disposals

VE S22

Exchange translation difference

202546 F 30 H 2 4585
Balance as at 30 June 2025

R
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

20234E7H 1 H 24564
Balance as at 1 July 2023

LR
Charge for the year
iR

Disposals

202446 H30H KT H 1 H 2 &6k
Balance as at 30 June and 1 July 2024

RELFHE AT
Charge for the year
iR

Disposals

202546 F 30 H 2 4585
Balance as at 30 June 2025

IRERME
NET BOOK VALUE

20254E6 H30H 2 &%
Balance as at 30 June 2025

20244F6 F30H 2 4565
Balance as at 30 June 2024

BT - R
BRERBE ARG
Building
improvements,
TR major BERR
[ S5 Construction equipment and Fixtures and st
Buildings in progress services systems equipment Total
BETT BET BET BEETT BETT
$million $million $million $million $million
7,210 925 2,237 2,781 13,153
1 788 3 468 1,260
0 (216) 216 0 0
0 0 0 (108) (108)
0 0 0 1 1
7,211 1,497 2,456 3,140 14,304
0 883 8 339 1,230
1,016 (1,566) 525 25 0
0 0 ®) (107) (115)
1 0 0 2 3
8,228 814 2,981 3,399 15,422
3,086 0 469 2,248 5,803
145 0 123 239 507
0 0 0 (108) (108)
3,231 0 592 2,379 6,202
150 0 145 331 626
0 0 4) (106) (110)
3,381 0 733 2,604 6,718
4,847 814 2,248 795 8,704
3,980 1,497 1,864 761 8,102
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Ik ~ Ms heatls (80)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

RERCEREFERARLANTAEZ i MEERATBERNT (T EFERFERT ) ) e
REITA - 20476 H30H IF - BT EAUEARSOF ST HRITE -

The University campus is situated on approximately 60 hectares of land in Sai Kung under lease from the
Government of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) at a nominal rent for 58 years
through 30 June 2047. The campus buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over 50 years.

YNBSS A T R EH R A =B REANTTERES (R ARRAE IR ZRIIE
TUUE =PIk D E BB E SRR 2 A R4 > 22057H6H28H 1k - s TR T

LPFEHETEITE -

A piece of land situated at Shenzhen of approximately 7,437 square metres was granted at a nominal amount
to HKUST R&D Corporation (Shenzhen) Limited, a subsidiary of the Group, by the Shenzhen Municipal
Government for the construction of an Industry-Education-Research base for 50 years through 28 June 2057.
The respective building is depreciated over the remaining lease term.

AR EBUFE BRI G I T RE B AR IR =T E S I5oR 2 Lt (F R B — e S A g
A BIATLA » B20624F12H20H 1F » 32 SR T4 H AN ETRSOF ST AT ES -

A piece of land situated in Tseung Kwan O of approximately 3,490 square metres was granted to the
University by the Government of the HKSAR at a nominal rent for the construction of a student hostel for a
lease of 50 years up to 20 December 2062. The respective building is depreciated on a straight-line basis
over 50 years.

DLEZYI5E ~ tas Sk i L phat (R FRITEE AT -

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated over their estimated useful lives as follows:

TG ~ KRB R 40 204FEAH ST - DARSE & Rt

Building improvements, major equipment and services systems Shorter of 20 years or the lease term

R B st THH AU ZE 4E - DA Ry

Fixtures and equipment Shorter of the projects lives or 4-10
years
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RvRE
INTANGIBLE ASSETS

DZS
COST

20234ETH 1 H 2 456k
Balance as at 1 July 2023

NE
Additions

20244F6 H30H TR 1H 2 456%
Balance as at 30 June and 1 July 2024

NE
Additions
TR

Disposals

202546 530 H 2 456k
Balance as at 30 June 2025

]
AMORTISATION

202347 H1H 2 &6k
Balance as at 1 July 2023

R R

Amortisation charge for the year

20244F6H30H TR 1H 2 456%
Balance as at 30 June and 1 July 2024

R R

Amortisation charge for the year
UK
Disposals

202546 530 H 2 456k
Balance as at 30 June 2025

SREDFE
NET BOOK VALUE

202546 530 H 2 456k
Balance as at 30 June 2025

20244F6 H30H Z 456k
Balance as at 30 June 2024

B B AT 25%sT Y -

Computer software is amortised on a straight-line basis at 25% per annum.

26

Etbdia

Computer software

BHEJT

$million

142

149

11

(6)

154

126

134

(6)

136

18

15




HE

LEASES

2025 2024
BHET HET

$million $million

EEEE

Right-of-use assets

i =2

204 92

Buildings

THEAMR

Lease liabilities

JRENTHE B 34 14

Current lease liabilities

IEREHEAE 177 75

Non-current lease liabilities

211 89

RN > i FREEE h— =T EE T (20244F © L FET) -
Additions to the right-to-use assets for the year ended 30 June 2025 were $137 million (2024: $90 million).

HESMTEEDUETE A RE R

The lease liabilities are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi.

RERE R R IR A B BRI 4

Amounts related to leases recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

reE 28 14
Depreciation
BB A 8 2
Finance cost

AR BB 12 11

Expenses relating to short-term leases

48 27

SR RoRIH AR BEE) S A0 T HABR

The Group’s leasing activities as lessees and how these are accounted for

SR EYEE - HAES— R —EAEMEERY - AL S GBS ARG RIRIE RAH S HIRAERE - BB
Y H Bl R O S HNEE B TR - AR BRI ER - B EIRFOR R - AR s B S 3L - ATl
BHAEA Gt S H A IE A -

The Group leases various buildings. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years. Some leases include an
option to renew the lease for an additional period after the end of the contract term. The Group assess at lease commencement date
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any onerous covenants. Leased assets will not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Rl EEE AR A IR

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

2025 2024
BHEIT EHET
$million $million
THTHZ 456% 89 17
Balance as at 1 July
NE 140 82
Addition
B BRE A 8 2
Non-cash finance cost
LA A (28) (12)
Payment of lease liabilities
PE R ZEHH 2 0
Exchange translation difference
6 H30H > &tk 211 89

Balance as at 30 June
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9.

BREHMY B EE
FINANCIAL ASSETS RELATING TO INVESTMENTS

i e
Equity securities

iR - LT E
Listed equity securities, at market value
Ik LR S o E (MR 2)

Unlisted equity securities, at fair value (Note a)

PEFEHEEARRNES]
Presentation in the consolidated balance sheet

BN A B B H A UG SR Z W A

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

HAHEBBIC ER ZH #E (MFsE b)
Financial assets at fair value through income and expenditure (Note b)

E A AR
Listed equity funds

Ik LA
Unlisted equity funds

b P E WA R s

Listed fixed income funds

Ik b TRE E AR

Unlisted fixed income funds

JE LIS

Unlisted real assets funds

EInTE PP S
Unlisted hedge funds

JEEMRANILE

Unlisted private investments

b AR R 2
Listed convertible bonds

JE bR (i a)

Unlisted convertible notes (Note a)

DLERA i E DB TT R ETT R AL

The above categories of financial assets are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars.

Mgt
Notes :
(@) ZSFHEIZIGEI AR T B T BT TR TN ~ 2 FIRF AL F s 70 A AR

()

2025 2024
BET BET
$million $million
299 268
620 629
919 897
919 897
613 447
3,912 3,838
2,208 2,196
1,645 1,476
1,030 984
1,685 1,468
1272 1,065
18 18
1 8
12,384 11,500

The fair value was determined by reference to the financial models based on discounted cash flow analysis, earnings multiple and net equity method with

reference to market valuations for similar entities.

LT I2 BT 1T R A E R T

The fair value was determined by reference to bid prices quoted in active markets or by fund managers.
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10. FREHEAFER

INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES
2025 2024
BET BET
$million $million
Pl P& 7E 128 82
Share of net assets
¥
R FE R B R BARE
i = NCIPA Form of Place of Percentage of
Name of Business Incorporation Interest Held FEEEE)
Associate Structure and Operation by the Group Principal Activity
FEBTEERAR HHENEAL HEE N RILAIE 33% IR - B E AT SREIERR T E TR S
> Bl E A B R A TBEA -
PKU-HKUST Institutional People’s Republic To engage in technology commercialization, incubation of
Shenzhen-Hong Organization of China start-up companies, provision of research and technology
Kong Institution management services, training of senior management and
administrative executives.
EHBEYRHL AREBES w 49.5% FIESEae-Sa
HIREBES
Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Venture Investment Fund
Biotechnology Partnership
Limited Fund

Partnership Fund

BEZZTAEAA=THEER  AEEEEELVPRRARSEEERERLTET -
During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group made an investment in Hong Kong Biotechnology Limited Partnership Fund of $50 million.

RICHER Rl ] Z I S R

The summarised financial information in respect of the associates is set out below:

FAEES T AN FEEVREARCBES
PKU-HKUST Shenzhen-Hong Kong Hong Kong Biotechnology Limited
Institution Partnership Fund
2025 2024 2025 2024
HEIT HET BEL ELn
$million $million $million $million

RoH30HEHE A 272 283 99 0
Total assets as at 30 June
RoH30HAEEE @a3n (33) 0 0
Total liabilities as at 30 June
ROH30H FHAETHE 241 250 99 0
Net assets as at 30 June
1726 5 30 H SEEIFE AL TR e A 5] 2 B FE 79 82 49 0
Group’s share of net assets of the associates as at 30 June
RS 50 75 0 0
Turnover for the year
A A, O] (30) @) 0
Loss for the year
SR AL TR F] SR 3) (10) [e)) 0
Group’s share of results of the associates for the year
HIREFMEE A FE
Reconciliation to share of net assets:
WRTHTH 250 289 0 0
Asat 1 July
AR 0 0 101 0
Additions for the year
A A, O] (30) (@) 0
Loss for the year
sy “ ®) 0 0
Funds distributed
VR G272 40 4 (1) 0 0
Exchange translation difference
6H30H 241 250 99 0
As at 30 June
FEEIENS % 33% 33% 49.5% 0%
Group’s share in %
SEEFEAL A E 2 BEFE 79 82 49 0

Group’s share of net assets of the associates
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11.

FEMSCRRK B TR
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND PREPAYMENTS

2025 2024
B&T B&T
$million $Smillion

JEHRRR 824 716
Accounts receivable
TR SR e fi 129 68
Prepayments and deposits

953 784

FEEFNE B B S S O9 B J57% - DU RO 2 HITH B HEE T RS 1EHE 0
The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach using a lifetime expected loss allowance to
measure loss allowance of accounts receivables.

Rt EEHHESEE - BUCRREE I EE SRR U A D8 o4 - FREES IR RS
HIMHIEE SRS - W2 BRSNS Al S ATiE M 2okl 2 R TR S BE T35 (MEEXR
) e 202556 300  SENTHIIES RN EA - SEFREUBUCREE R G - AEERERZ S
SEERRFA E TR -

To measure the expected credit losses, account receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates are estimated based on
the corresponding historical credit losses experienced, adjusted with the expected change between
current and forward looking information on macroeconomic factors, if material. As at 30 June
2025, no loss allowance is required on these accounts receivable as the expected credit losses are
immaterial. The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

KB FE SRR i [ 2kl - METHE A — el « FRATEORIR TR AT 7 —F A iR R B
% o

The majority of accounts receivable are with no fixed terms of payment and are expected to be
recoverable within one year. Prepayments are expected to be recognised as expenses within one
year.

JEAERK ~ TR St B LU T R SRTT R AL -
The accounts receivable and prepayments and deposits are mainly denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollars.
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12.

B RS TK
CASH AND DEPOSITS WITH BANKS

JEREHH 2 =8 B 2 S
Bank Deposits with Original Maturity over Three Months

TSy

Current portion

JEREE Sy

Non-Current portion

Bl R S B <

Cash and cash equivalents

JFEIHE R =8 H 28U Z EHIERL

Bank deposits with original maturity within three months

e KR T4EER
Cash at banks and in hand

Total

Bl RRIT AR A TS M Ry B

Cash and deposits with banks are denominated in the following currencies:

Hong Kong Dollars 357
United States Dollars 37T

Renminbi PNGRL:
Euro BT
Pounds Sterling X
Others HAth

31

2025 2024
BET HET

$million $million
2,422 1,855
44 0
2.466 1,855
791 798
327 302
1118 1,100
3,584 2,955
2333 2,491
806 92
386 316
43 19
3 33
13 4
3,584 2.955




13.

14.

FE(RERK X FE= T
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUALS

aaf ()
Contract liabilities (Note a)

JERTHRAR e 2

Accounts payable and accruals

JERE I ARB AR (D)

Amount of unspent recurrent grants refundable (Note b)

TR TR s R B AR

Less: Non-Current portion of Accounts Payable and Accruals

JEAHIHRRK e S R B 03

Current portion of Accounts Payable and Accruals

JEARR S MBS T2 F £ R LB TC Ry BT

The accounts payable and accruals are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

it
Notes :

2025 2024
BHEIT =T
$million $million
890 614
653 577
827 0
2,370 1,191
(131) (84)
2,239 1,107

() agyaft (B TG - TR Ty EETE R Rl « ERAST=EHET (2024

F: ME=TH7T) GNAMTHRE SN A -

The contract liabilities for receipts in advance and deferred revenue are recognised as revenue in the
periods when the performance obligations are fulfilled. $763 million (2024: $530 million) contract
liabilities are expected to be recognised as income within one year.

PRI AGRIRBIAS BRI I RERE R U
Revenue recognised during the year that was included in
the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the

536

527

BB HARD) I SRR R B T B R B4 - AR RENTRE SRR I 17(e) - THET

The amount of unspent recurrent grants refundable represents the amount to be refunded to the
HKSAR Government. Further details of such refund are set out in Note 17(a). The amount refundable
is expected to be settled within one year, through the deduction from subsequent monthly grant

years
(b)
FZANRBS RN —EN RS A #I R e POk -
releases.
Ok SRR

PROVISION FOR STAFF BENEFITS

KIim
Gratuities

B B Hopth

Leave pay and others

JERITL
Payable:

—FA
Within 1 year
—fFER

After 1 year

2025 2024
BHEIT =T
$million $million

155 134

119 99

274 233

228 181

46 52

274 233
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AT e
DEFERRED INCOME

202347 1 H 2 &6k
Balance as at 1 July 2023

Bl / P IR

Amount received / receivable

FhASRE REUEEER (FEE3.1/33/18)
Credited to consolidated statement of comprehensive income (Notes
3.1/3.3/18)

R REEALS (M5E 16)
Transfer to deferred capital funds (Note 16)

SN 7R
Exchange differences arising from translation

20246730 H T H 1 H Z 458k
Balance as at 30 June and 1 July 2024

El / el #eE
Amount received / receivable

FrASFE R (MRt 3.1/3.3/18)
Credited to consolidated statement of comprehensive income (Notes
3.1/33/18)

EEIRE R AIS S (R 16)
Transfer to deferred capital funds (Note 16)

HNRHRET 2 224
Exchange differences arising from translation

202546 430 H 2 &6k
Balance as at 30 June 2025

RS AE
To be recognised

20244£6 H301H &6k
Balance as at 30 June 2024

—HN

In one year

ik

After one year

202546 H30H > 4564
Balance as at 30 June 2025

—HN

In one year

—Ef

After one year

L IRRFRAATH (M 18)
Note: The amounts were from pledged donations (Note 18).

BURH BRI
BAEEHEEHK Fi=piss i
BEE | IS st Earmarked
A UGC Earmarked  Grants from HERY
UGC Block  Grants/ Research Government Project Ficd =t
Grant Matching Grants Agencies Sponsorships Donation Total
BET HEL HEL HEL BEL HET
$million $million $million $million $million $million
0 1,347 507 163 943 2,960
2,685 700 417 114 280 4,196
G
(Note)
(2,566) (399) (547) (102) (102) (3,716)
(119) (670) ®) (33) (236) (1,066)
0 0 0 0 0 0
0 978 369 142 885 2,374
2,017 886 386 162 504 3,955
Ga)
(Note)
(1,661) (435) (486) (99) (132) (2,813)
(356) (354) ) (26) a1 (848)
0 0 2 0 0 2
0 1,075 270 179 1,146 2,670
0 575 310 142 730 1,757
0 403 59 0 155 617
0 978 369 142 885 2,374
0 686 262 179 994 2,121
0 389 8 0 152 549
0 1,075 270 179 1,146 2,670
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16.

BIEEARH S
DEFERRED CAPITAL FUNDS

202347 H 1 H 2 458k
Balance as at 1 July 2023

MHETRREYIZE - 125 K i S B RSR  a s i 5 R e s (it 15)
Amounts equivalent to additions to property, plant and equipment and computer software
transferred from deferred income (Note 15)

THETTEE R FORMIR R a2 E W R
Amounts equivalent to depreciation and amortisation charges transferred to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

b S 2= A

Exchange translation difference

202446 H30H K 7H1H 2 &tk
Balance as at 30 June and 1 July 2024

MHETRREYIZE - 1525 K S B RSR  a s i 5 R e s (FfEE 15)
Amounts equivalent to additions to property, plant and equipment and computer software
transferred from deferred income (Note 15)

THETTEE R FORMIR R a2 E W R
Amounts equivalent to depreciation and amortisation charges transferred to consolidated
statement of comprehensive income

b S 2= A

Exchange translation difference

202546 H30H 2 456%
Balance as at 30 June 2025

HET

$million

5,220

1,066

(373)

5,913

848

(499)

6,262



17. ZEGES - REEEERAMES
UGC FUNDS, RESTRICTED FUNDS AND OTHER FUNDS

BEEES FR&EMEREE HitES
UGC Funds Restricted Funds Other Funds
BAREEEERA
2EBETIRE 5
BRI
—RKEBRERE  PIFEEREA [t Financial Assets at
General and Research Matching Grants BEES EEHEK BAES RS TR FVOCI BEAES
Development Projects and HAES At Capital INET HAES Designated Capital INEF Unspecified Revaluation Capital Hitr INEF &Ext
Reserve Others Endowments Others Funds Sub-total Endowments Donations Funds Sub-total Donations Reserve Funds Others Sub-total Total
BET HET HEJL BHET BEET BET HET HEJL HEJT HEJT BHEJT BET HEJT HEL HETT BHETL
$million $million $million $million $million $Smillion $million $million $million $Smillion $Smillion $million $million $million $Smillion $million
20234ETH1H 2 456k 1,989 410 527 1,311 48 4,285 1,811 142 10 1,963 392 567 2,088 3,886 6,933 13,181
Balance as at 1 July 2023
KRR | () 397 (136) 26 57 0 344 169 17) 0 152 80 0 0 586 666 1,162
Surplus / (Deficit) for the year after tax
AT B2 FGS T R AR R R B BUF 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 285 0 0 285 285
Unrealised gain on equity securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income
SN 2 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1) 1) 1)
Exchange difference arising from translation
EEE /(2) BAES 0 0 0 (118) 118 0 3 0 3) 1] 39 0 (57) 18 0 0
Transfer from / (to) capital funds
B i (89) 89 0 0 0 0 (68) 73 0 5 0 0 0 5) 5) 0
Inter-fund transfer
20244E6 H30H KT H 1 H 2 456k 2,297 363 553 1,250 166 4,629 1,915 198 7 2,120 511 852 2,031 4,484 7,878 14,627
Balance as at 30 June and 1 July 2024
KEERR (B5E) | FeR (710) (133) 37 95 0 (711) 200 (20) 0 180 169 0 0 816 985 454
(Deficit)/ Surplus for the year after tax
FEE U I LAt 4 T UG H R A B R 8 5K B 2 2R 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 22 0 0 22 22
Unrealised gain on equity securities at fair value through other
comprehensive income
A HEE B HA A Y IR R 25 B 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (22) 0 22 0 0
Transfer of realised gain on equity securities at fair value through
other comprehensive income
SN 2 22 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5 5 5
Exchange difference arising from translation
e | (F) G485 0 0 0 (19) 19 0 1 1 ?2) 0 50 0 239 (289) 0 0
Transfer from / (to) capital funds
B (102) 102 0 0 0 0 (10) 74 0 64 (54) 0 0 (10) (64) 0
Inter-fund transfer
20254F6 H30H 2~ 456% 1,485 332 590 1,326 185 3,918 2,106 253 5 2,364 676 852 2,270 5,028 8,826 15,108
Balance as at 30 June 2025
PfzE -
Notes:
(a) —MERBREEEES HARBIH 2 BOAGRERN - PR CGBE R=E0) S5 F ol s~ — (BRI — A R S R G AL A R DA R I 2 BRI 20% Rl - fis — M e SR et (i A A B A RS 2 S5 e BRI IR - B R TECAE - 2022-25 = AR HIMVAS A £52024-25 « b4 » A G 220255°2 H 26 Hst & F &

(b

%

©

(@

(©

=

(g

(h

=

@

BURF2025-264F R R s TR (R - B GCHITA RBE G ARSI — R S R A RS I TIRES - A7A20254FE6 A RIS — MR B s (R~ TRE AT ( TRERUE, ) - /RS TRNE AR TE TR ERETHER B EIZE 20256 H 30 H IR EEA S E AR (R -

General and Development Reserve Fund (“GDRF”) represents the unspent UGC Block Grants. The balance of the GDRF at the end of a funding period (usually a triennium) that can be carried over to the next funding period is limited to a maximum of 20% of the University’s approved Block Grants for that funding period. Should the balance of the
GDREF at the end of the funding period exceeds the ceiling allowed, the excess amount is refundable to the UGC. The last year of 2022-25 triennium was 2024-25. In addition, further to the UGC’s press release dated 26 February 2025 in response to the 2025-26 Budget of the HKSAR Government, the UGC have conducted a review of the level of GDRF
balances of all UGC-funded universities and in June 2025 confirmed that the University has to refund on a one-off basis a total of $826.6 million (“the refund”). The refund of $826.6 million has been recognised as a reduction of UGC recurrent block grant for the year ended 30 June 2025 (Note 3.1).

TFETE B R A Rt B 2o R RS (E AR HIE B SRS RS RO BRI TS -

Research Projects and Others represent UGC Block Grant set aside for individual research projects and start-up fund to new faculty members to support their research work.

BESHERK Ry BOA G R EHERGH |  Bhdth - IRIBEBCAGRMIIIRG] - RS R ANBCA G 258 -
Matching Grants represent unspent funds from UGC’s Matching Grant Schemes. According to the rules and regulations promulgated by the UGC, these funds have to be used for activities within UGC ambit.

WHAREE RARERR IR0 & 0 B IR A S R B A S N DU E AR A S SRR B R V) -

Endowments represent the funds which the University would, according to the wishes of the donors, keep the principal intact and only use income generated from the fund to support designated activities of the University.
SRR AN AR EES) - SUEEUEE CETHEERS) MBS -

Designated Donations represent funds earmarked for specific activities, programs or projects of the University, other than for construction of buildings.

AR FWIE - Pas R i MRS 2 IR HE - B RN S RN ERESSER (E F R BUR B SRR S A A

Capital Funds represent the net book value of property, plant and equipment as well as computer software which are acquired with recognised but unspent Government grants or donations or other income retained in the fund balances.

FRIEE IR Ry E TR R A -

Unspecified Donations represent general donations without donor-specified purposes.

B EAE AN 2 EWEST IR R EE MR 2 P H At £ T U s PO SRR 15 7 2 AT Sl e A 2 R EE IR0 -
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income (“FVOCI”) Revaluation Reserve represents the fair value gain or loss of financial assets at FVOCI.
HAtr B A 5 A REEHYES) -

Other Funds represent funds generated from self-financing activities.
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18.

AR

PLEDGED DONATIONS
2025 2024
BET BET
$million $million
INERISE S s e 1,062 639
Outstanding amount as at 1 July
Wi ZARGETRRK 299 764
New pledges
HEAFECZIRTGE S & 2R (IR a) 51 (61)
Amount received during the year recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income (Note a)
EARFEEE U IR A REWGESIRE (HfE 15) (504) (280)
Amounts received during the year credited to deferred income (Note 15)
EAFEE DU K (555) (341)
Total amount received during the year
26 H 30 H AR S 3 2 K8 806 1,062
Outstanding amount as at 30 June
Wizt (a) -
Note (a):
2025 2024
A E#TT E#TT
Donation Income Smillion Smillion
TERGE[ECY ST B E o 78 B TR < R SHIFR 51 61
Amount of pledged donations received during the year and recognised directly in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income
FEAIA Bt AR LR Ao B 2 BT ot el At Ak (Mt 15) 132 102
Amount of pledged donations initially credited to deferred income and
subsequently recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income
during the year (Note 15)
TERIF[EER G 2 IE i ZetEad Z AN (9 B 183 163

Total donation income recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income during the year (Page 9)
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19.

19.1

MR EE
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

SR THENE
CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

MHBHRE

Financial assets

PR T B I

Financial assets at amortised cost

FEWTHRRK R d2 4z

Accounts receivable and deposits

JFEIHT H =8 5 2 E i

Bank deposits with original maturity over three months

Bl K SR

Cash and cash equivalents

A HEE R A e e YR 2 M5 A

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

A HEBERWCTC R Z M R E

Financial assets at fair value through income and expenditure

MBaE

Financial liabilities

FAMz S AR Z I B

Other financial liabilities at amortised cost

HEAE
Lease liabilities

JERRRRO st &

Accounts payable and accruals
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2025 2024
BET BHET

$million $million
836 726
2,466 1,855
1,118 1,100
919 897
12,384 11,500
17,723 16,078
211 89
1,430 494
1,641 583




19.

19.2

MBEREE ()

SRTREEZ RS

EEET R Z SRR - sk (S
SN ~ FIRJ b b (BRI )~ (5 S K
TR e o S o i B 2 A R
MG RETER T RZR T S [RERY S B L R (AN e
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management focuses on controlling the
impact arising from unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the
Group’s financial performance by engaging external
professional advisors. The Administration of the University
assumes the day-to-day risk management responsibility and
monitors regularly the risk exposures of the Group.

(a) Market risk

Market risk represents the risk that the value of
financial assets will decrease as a result of movements
in market variables such as foreign currency exchange
rates, interest rates and stock prices. The Group is
exposed to market risk mainly through the investment
funds it holds. The Group’s investments comprise
equities, debt securities, real assets investment funds,
hedged funds, private investments and fixed deposits.
The investment strategy of the Group is to invest
prudently in order to preserve capital and achieve
optimal risk diversification while generating a stable
return over the long term and the required liquidity.
The Group employs external professional advisors
and investment managers to manage a significant
portion of its investments, and delegates to the
Finance Office of the University to manage fixed
deposits and some of the fixed income instruments.

(i)  Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risks
primarily arising from its United States dollars
(“USD”) denominated investments that are managed
by investment managers. As HKD is pegged to the
USD, the Group considers the risk from movements in
exchange rates between the HKD and USD to be
insignificant.

Since currency movements tend to have a much
smaller impact on portfolio performance in the long
run, no hedging for non-USD currency exposure will
be arranged under normal circumstances. Such
currency exposure management policy is subject to
periodic review and hedging may be arranged when
situation warrants.

As at 30 June 2025, the percentages of financial
assets denominated in HKD, USD, RMB and other
currencies to total financial assets were 10.8% (2024:
17.3%), 83.1% (2024: 76.8%), 3.6% (2024: 3.8%)
and 2.5% (2024: 2.1%), respectively.

The Group does not have material financial liabilities
denominated in foreign currency and considers the
related foreign exchange risk immaterial.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(@)

()

(iii)

(b)

Market risk (Cont’d)
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in relation
to its fixed deposits and bond securities. As the fixed
deposits usually mature within three to twelve
months, the risk exposure is considered not material.
If bank deposit interest rates had been 50 basis points
higher / lower, with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s surplus for the year ended 30 June 2025
would increase / decrease by approximately $16.3
million (2024: $13.3 million).

Price risk

The Group is mainly exposed to securities price risk
from its investments managed by investment
managers. Securities price risk is managed by
diversification of investments in different markets,
sectors and assets types. At 30 June 2025, if the
prices of the respective investments had been 5%
higher / lower, with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s surplus for the year ended 30 June 2025
would increase /decrease by approximately $665.2
million (2024: $619.9 million).

Credit risk

The Group’s principal financial assets are cash and
cash equivalents, bank deposits, accounts receivable,
financial assets at amortised cost, financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income and
financial assets at fair value through income and
expenditure.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its
accounts receivable. The amounts represented in the
consolidated balance sheet are net of loss allowance,
estimated by the Group’s management based on past
experience and their assessment of the current
economy.

Cash and cash equivalents and bank deposits are
placed with counterparties with credit-ratings of
investment grade or above assigned by international
credit-ratings agencies. Financial assets at amortised
cost, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at fair
value through income and expenditure are rated
investment grade or above.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk, with exposure spread over a number of
counterparties.
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R REEEE (8) 19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

ST HEEEY R (&) 19.2  RISKS ARISING FROM FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(b) EEEE (&) (b) Credit risk (Cont’d)
HETEI& TR H AR BB TA R S T The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
WA EZ BT AIARER EE R event of the counterparties’ failure to perform their

RsraEEABRRIUREENIREE - obligations as at balance sheet date in relation to each
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
balance sheet.

2025 K 20244F6 H30H - SEEIRIE & B 15 The Group assessed that there is no significant loss
A RIS 9 SRMERD G B R BT R - allowance in accordance with HKFRS 9 as at 30 June

2025 and 2024.

(o FEECEE (¢c) Liquidity risk
REEAH Y AEFEIH BEEEHR T Most of the Group’s liabilities are due within twelve
AN - EHREEsEETE - AEEE months from the respective balance sheet date. To
B8 R e B < R B e (B H H R 7E R /K manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
S DURERT B H SRR - maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents to

fulfill the normal liquidity needs.

BAEH
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

EENASRBE GRS - IREIMAE S R HAR AR - SR SR R & E HIVIMERIL - MEFRIHA L7 - S0
HY E R CRE R S5 & AN & SR BB AT BB I R - B RS SRR N A — R A o -

The Group’s funds consist of UGC funds, restricted funds and other funds, which are set up for various designated
purposes as described in Note 17. It is the Group’s objective to maintain sufficient funds to support the Group’s current
and future operating expenditure requirements. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

ARG B R AL B LAY S LA S U b R i i B ARGl 1 LE A R -
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the
risk characteristics of its activities.
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19. HHRREE (8
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

194 APEMER
FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

(@)  DAAPEFIRRAYERETE

Financial assets carried at fair value

DU N G B E A AR A HEST B2 AR SR TR 200 R ET 2S00
The tables below provide an analysis of the Group’s financial instruments that are measured at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet, grouped
by level of the following fair value measurement:

o MHEBEEXAECERTSZ®E (B—F50)

Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1)

o  BRTHE-FHIEEZEES > REENA TBSER  TAERSHEE (B2ER)

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly (Level 2)

o  HEEMAMWIFHIETEE TSR B (E=%80)

Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (Level 3)

BER BN HE=FH Hast
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HETT HETT HETT HETT
$million $million $million $million
720254E6 530 H
As at 30 June 2025
A HEEBSCEIIR I & E
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Income and Expenditure
- R 613 0 0 613
Listed equity funds
- Ik bR 2,572 1,340 0 3,912
Unlisted equity funds
- i EE AR S 2,208 0 0 2,208
Listed fixed income funds
- Ik B EEWA LS 318 657 670 1,645
Unlisted fixed income funds
- e EHEYEE 0 673 357 1,030
Unlisted real assets funds
- FELTERES 0 1,685 0 1,685
Unlisted hedge funds
- e EMHAEE 0 0 1,272 1,272
Unlisted private investments
- SUIEIE - es 18 0 0 18
Listed convertible bonds
- Ik b TR 0 0 1 1
Unlisted convertible notes
5,729 4,355 2,300 12,384
A EEBHM 2By IR I EE
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
- brikEsE 299 0 0 299
Listed equity securities
- JEETRERER S 0 0 620 620
Unlisted equity securities
299 0 620 919
6,028 4,355 2,920 13,303
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MHREREE (8

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

AHESER (8

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION (CONT’D)

(a) DMAPEIIRNESRIEE (8D

Financial assets carried at fair value (Cont’d)

1220246 H30H
As at 30 June 2024

BN HEBBUCEUR Z M &

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Income and Expenditure

BN THE BB EA Ry IR 2 P s

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income

A
Listed equity funds

Ik bR
Unlisted equity funds

E T E U AR

Listed fixed income funds

Ik B EEWA RS

Unlisted fixed income funds

IE EEYEE

Unlisted real assets funds

JE LA
Unlisted hedge funds

FE ERRAE

Unlisted private investments

LT R

Listed convertible bonds

IF BT AR SRR

Unlisted convertible notes

Mas)itd Fivoa

Listed equity securities

Ik R R R

Unlisted equity securities

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HETT HETT HETT HEIT
$million $million $million $million

447 0 0 447

2,665 1,173 0 3,838

2,196 0 0 2,196

298 593 585 1,476

0 644 340 984

0 1,468 0 1,468

0 0 1,065 1,065

18 0 0 18

0 0 8 8

5,624 3,878 1,998 11,500

268 0 0 268

0 0 629 629

268 0 629 897

5,892 3,878 2,627 12,397

JE S F G T RN A HE 92 F A KE iR it 2 e H (ESMEE - MR sREIIAR 2 RS -

The fair value of the financial instruments under Level 2 is determined by reference to the prices at the reporting date provided by the investment

managers and have been translated using the exchange rates at the end of the reporting period where appropriate.

B =SB TR A HE Y2 IR S 5 (E E N DR SR TR AT - B BRI T AN SR T E -

The fair value of the financial instruments under Level 3 is determined by reference to the financial models based on discounted cash flow analysis,

earnings multiple and net equity method with reference to market valuations for similar entities.

FEFGE TR EEARE R AR AR T ATIE -

Level 3 financial instruments include investments in unlisted companies by the Group and its investment managers.

REN - PRI T F R A HER R B M R

WGH SREREN S = SR AT ERT A -

During the year, there was no transfer of the financial investments between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfer into or out of level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy classifications.
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MBRBEE (8D
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

APEMSSE (8D
FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION (CONT’D)

(@) DAAPESRIESHRE (8)

Financial assets carried at fair value (Cont’d)

FNHESA L BEER B TRNFENZ EHT

The movements of the Level 3 financial instruments measured at fair value during the year are as follows:

THIHZ %6k

Balance as at 1 July

A

Acquisitions

L1024

Disposals

RS 22 B — AR O THER TR AR

Transfer to Level 1

Bt Adr &2 EWE R AR

Net gains recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income

6 H30H 456k
Balance as at 30 June

Eat Adr a2 EWE RN M 2 G 2R 518D /mFAEEE

Net (losses)/gains for the year included in consolidated statement of comprehensive income, under other
comprehensive income

et AGFE R GRS RSB A Z B EFIEEE

Net gains for the year included in consolidated statement of comprehensive income, under interest and net
investment income
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2025 2024
BHET BHET
$million $million
2,627 2,299
364 339
(246) (147)
0 (109)
175 245
2,920 2,627
) 144
184 101




20. =%

COMMITMENTS
2025 2024
HET HET
$million $million
(a) HEAKIE
Capital Commitments
() DU AR B ERE L 2 ARAYISE - 1S R TRV AR HE *
Outstanding capital commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment
not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:
%4 1,530 1,644
Contracted for
B E AL 3,450 3,456
Authorised but not contracted for
4,980 5,100
(i)  DUT AR s s e i A AT 5 A AR R TR AR
Outstanding capital commitments in respect of financial assets not provided
for in the financial statements were as follows:
@ 28] 1,519 1,270
Contracted for
HRYE 6,499 6,370
Total commitments
RHCRBTTARIEE AR
Funding support for the above outstanding capital commitments:
2025 2024
HET HET
$million $million
REEBHEMEAZ 5
Amounts to be financed by the Group’s resources
—  CEHEZIRBALEENEEgES Y & 1,002 965
Amounts recognised as income and retained in UGC Funds
—  FERREIEE SR T R S 3,505 2,113
Other amounts representing restricted funds or other funds to be allocated
EMCIGI S B R AE W 25 726 H 30 H -2 24 239 173
Amounts received and reflected as deferred income as at 30 June
PEEOUMAERGE B 1,651 2,938
Amounts in respect of UGC grants approved but not yet received
EE R &8 102 181
Amounts pledged by donors
6,499 6,370




21. REREGRRMESZEGNANERGN I EE KB X5
UNIVERSITY COUNCIL AND COUNCIL COMMITTEES MEMBERS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS
OF SIGNIFICANCE AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

21.1

21.2

HEGH
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

R &k B B & 2 5 & B AT R B B (AT a8 A B A A4 H B FE P R (RTIRF R R AR AR AR B R & 4 T B R B
PR E AL -

No contract of significance to which the University or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Council member or a
Council Committee member was materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year.

BBt TR 5
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

ARG > A REHEST T I YIEARBART 5 -

During the year, the Group entered into the following material related parties transactions:

(2)

(b)

FEEHABZME (GE)

Compensation of key management personnel (Note)

CEFEEE 4 — sl AR THMAREEEEASZBe0T
Below is the compensation of the key management personnel who have also been included in Note 4 - Remuneration of
Higher Paid Staff:

2025 2024

BET BETT

$million $million
e R H AR B EA 82 76
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits
T2 tE A 7 7
Post employment benefits

89 83

it TEEPIA SR EERERE - BT TRE e R EN AR A S ET TRIF » AR
TG F R R

Note: Key management personnel represent senior management of the University whose primary responsibilities include
the review and approval of major administrative policies affecting the University’s operations, and long-term plans
and strategies for the development of the University.

EER - BRITEUR B R 8 TR > AEEI TR & ik S B &2 5 & 8 AR ARSI [ H S (T s R
A R ERB A BB Z #8 ~ 1EeeH MmN E (20244 @ i) -

No remunerations, fees or other emoluments were paid to or receivable by any Council members or Council Committees
members (other than those executive members and elected staff members) in respect of their services to the Group during
the year (2024: Nil).
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22. Wf@AT
SUBSIDIARIES

1220254E6 H30H - RELZ AT ¢

At 30 June 2025, the University’s subsidiaries were as follows:

PERRE

Proportion of

SRR / R Nominal Value
Place / Country of Issued /
- 2| of Registered Capital FEEH
Subsidiary Incorporation Held by the University Principal Activity
HERNE FRERE
Direct Indirect
EAERRE R R E R I A IR AT A 100% - ArEE)
HKUST College of Lifelong Learning Hong Kong Dormant
Limited
R AMEARAE Tk 100% - &)
HKUST Properties Limited Hong Kong Dormant
Redbird Innovation Fund Limited wH - it TEdE A~ RHERRIR i EE)
Hong Kong Note To engage in other professional, scientific and
technical activities.
FARRSEESRMEHEERAT A 100% - TRE PR
HKUST Industry and Education Hong Kong Investment holding
Development Corporation Limited
EHERKIHTE AR AT HiE 100% - FENEEFFRT=AMNE - BOTHRHIRG S
Hong Kong University of Science and Hong Kong b AFETEEE - FIE - AL Yk
Technology R and D Corporation Limited DRI E IR R
To engage in technology commercialisation
including  industrial  contracting, licensing,
[N AR RIS AR AE g A RFEAIE - 100% incubation of start-up companies, property
HKUST R and D Corporation People’s management and research and technical services,
(Guangzhou) Limited Republic of especially in Hong Kong and the Pearl River Delta
China Area.
BRI CEID BRRAE e\ RALAIE - 100%
HKUST R and D Corporation People’s
(Shenzhen) Limited Republic of
China
[T & RIS e\ RALAIE - 100% TLRBEINFED > BOTNFH AR KBS - DU AT
Guangzhou HKUST Fok Ying Tung People’s RISEET) © AR ATIIIE - IREREKERE
Research Institute Republic of BRGNS RHREE(L - UEB AR
China FIRHEAA RS -
Station in Guangzhou (Nansha), to engage in
technology innovation and development as well as
entrepreneurship  activities  including  startup
incubation, and commercialisation of technologies
developed in Clear Water Bay and Nansha
campuses, as well as training of management and
technology personnel.
FRRHOREE R 7R g A RILAIE 100% - LR - EIRERAE NS ~ 85l - B
HKUST Shenzhen Research Institute People’s FHYR B3 KA -
Republic of Station in Shenzhen, to facilitate the University’s
China education, training, research, technology
development and entrepreneurship activities in the
Mainland.
EAERRCREE A R AR 72 e A RILAIE 100% - ILREYITEHE - fEN RSN - Bl
HKUST Shenzhen — Hong Kong People’s THE ~ RHBHE R AIES -
Collaborative Innovation Research Institute Republic of Station in Shenzhen Futian District, to facilitate the
China University’s education, training, research,
technology development and entreprencurship
activities in the Mainland.
BRA (L) EREEHRERARAE HEE N RILFIE - 100% IR LS EREHENMEVEE ~ 5 - TR
HKUST Industry and Education People’s PHEEESE -
Development Corporation (Shanghai) Republic of Station in Shanghai, to facilitate the University’s
Limited China education, training, research and incubation
activities in the Mainland.
LEERMRERREE O T ARILAIE - 100%
Hong Kong University of Science and People’s
Technology Shanghai Center Republic of
China

i BN ERERAIRA

NE] G AEEA -

Note: This company is limited by gurantee without share capital
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FHAthtpak
OTHER AGREEMENTS

@

RSB EEREORE (BN HIR
Agreements related to establishing the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (Guangzhou)

FR0I8FEI12H21H » KEREFEIN A RBUSFIEE RS E B - SETERECOE (BN (TR (BEND

) o BEAAERER (BN ESRE RN ARET « REAFT BRI (BIN) R7itEs -

On 21 December 2018, the University signed agreements with the Guangzhou Municipal Government and Guangzhou
University (“GZU”) to establish Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (Guangzhou) (“HKUST (GZ)”). The
funding for the establishment of HKUST (GZ) is provided by Guangzhou Municipal Government. No financial commitment is
required from the University to fund HKUST (GZ).

KB IR EE 2 MR R LB S TR EUE AL - TRt B PRI (EIN) HIRESRHERSAHRRAYEE ~ Sff ~ IR
AMIBHSE - TAGIER A R G s - BRI RERGRAERA (BN BHERTEESRIERAEM R - A
FHBHETWAFIBASE < FRItL » BUERLAR (BN HIZHES R BRI St e 2 -

The arrangement between the University and GZU is a joint operation, where both parties account for their own assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to its interest in HKUST (GZ) as opposed to applying equity accounting. Under the
terms of the agreements, the University will not hold any assets or incur any liabilities, revenues or expenses related to HKUST
(GZ). Consequently, the arrangement with HKUST (GZ) has no impact on the financial results of the University.

RELRERABRIAR (BN - WEEEINT N REUTESE G DI N S T B MR (BN IF - ARl
RERAHTEA BN ER B AR BER S - W ROBRER (B TAERY B T#r & RADE KB EE AN E R ER S -
20254E6 30H - 2k E EINT ANRBUFTARMEHVE SERE R T =H8ET (2024 @ —E—T/\E&T) @ THEKX
BeroAEEAmE TR TIRERE ) -

For the establishment of HKUST (GZ), the University received funding from Guangzhou Municipal Government to support
Guangzhou Pilot Scheme and other preparation work for HKUST (GZ), including but not limited to postgraduate studentship
and related teaching and learning expenditures, the salary costs of its staff who have been involved in the work of HKUST (GZ)
and the direct operating costs incurred in Clear Water Bay campus. As at 30 June 2025, the unspent balance of funding from
Guangzhou Municipal Government of $23 million (2024: $118 million) was recorded within "Deferred Income" in the
University consolidated balance sheet.

AREEER - REEBBERIR (BN HETT TYIERRS
During the year, the Group entered into the following material transactions with HKUST (GZ):

2025 2024
BET HET

$million $million

BUERAR (BN 2385
Transactions with HKUST (GZ)

BRI GEND STz s 0 1
Occupancy fee charged to HKUST (GZ)

BRR B ST 2 IRBE M 4 3
Service fee charged to HKUST(GZ)

BRR (BN ST ReriEg i 2 0
License fee charged to HKUST (GZ)

SAFAERER (BN 2 aTEE R 4 4
Research Collaboration fee paid to HKUST (GZ)
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HAhtaR (&
OTHER AGREEMENTS (CONT'D)

(b)

[ AHKCeND, HKCRC, ACCESS, HKGAIL K, HKSREHY 1775
Agreements related to HKCeND, HKCRC, ACCESS, HKGAI and HKSRE

R RIRERPHASF LR ER ITEEEUT ( "B, ) MRERRZ — - BUFEBARREE ( T1TC, )
HEH InnoHKE#1 » & ool K f i SRR I BT B/ S S T R & (R H - IS ER SR EE T A T R
EWH ARG E -

As part of the Government of the HKSAR (the "Government") vision for Hong Kong to be the hub for global research
collaboration, the Government set up the InnoHK initiative through the Innovation and Technology Commission ("ITC") that
involves the establishment of world-class research clusters in the Hong Kong Science Park with research laboratories set up by
world renowned institutions and/or commercial entities to conduct collaborative research projects.

RE R EELL R4 - BLBUT AR ENE] (“HKSTP?) 2Rkl - L T LRHERARAT - I hnoHKE
HIES TR TR ES) - BRFIERAIRA T D 51 AEEMERITIEER T O AIRAF (“HKCeND”) -
FRERE RS TUOAIRAT (“HKCRC?) - BRES R BRI O AIRAE (“ACCESS?) » AL
BREWEPOAIRATE (“HKGAD) FIFEARZE A BLEER T 0 ATRAS] (“HKSRE”) - &% (" InnoHK
ACINIDIE

In response to the above, the University entered into agreements with the Government and the Hong Kong Science and
Technology Parks Corporation (the "HKSTP") and set up five entities limited by guarantee to carry out research activities with
funding support from the Government under the InnoHK initiative. The five entities are Hong Kong Center for
Neurodegenerative Diseases Limited ("HKCeND"), Hong Kong Center for Construction Robotics Limited ("HKCRC"), Al
Chip Center for Emerging Smart Systems Limited ("ACCESS"), Hong Kong Generative Al Research and Development Center
Limited ("HKGAI") and Hong Kong Space Robotics and Energy Centre Limited ("HKSRE") (collectively the "InnoHK
Companies").

REREEEEAARATNE R - (EREEEBUT & HKSTPETILAVGR IR - REAN G527 i 2 0l rviEss -
WA 25 4 S InnoHK N BIRREF R ME T2 B 1 - RIS & fHa L A IRV EEE

Although the University is the sole member of these entities, the University has not consolidated the results of these entities as
under the terms of the agreements entered into with the Government and the HKSTP, the University is not exposed to, and does
not have the rights or the power to affect variable returns from its involvement with InnoHK Companies.

AN AEEBInnoHK AF|#ET T FHIE AR S -

During the year, the Group entered into the following material transactions with InnoHK Companies:

2025 2024
HET HET

$million $million

()  ElnoHK /A% 5
Transactions with InnoHK Companies

InnoHK A3 290 HALH B 27 22
Overheads charged to InnoHK Companies

InnoHK /AT] -2 Fi%e & {2 3 >
Research Collaboration fee charged to InnoHK Companies

B Lf&3HEnnoHK 2\ 5] Z AR A 8 6
Cost Recovery for staff deployed to InnoHK Companies

AInnoHK 2 T ERH B bn IR S 26 542
Purchase of goods and services on behalf of InnoHK Companies

(i)  JEYInnoHK 2\ EIEIE 51 37
Amounts due from InnoHK Companies

(iii)) 7/ InnoHK 23 7]~ Felrak 19 2
Receipt in advance from InnoHK Companies
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FEEEHhE R HIET

T E B> B2 A (R AR T < A0 - SR
ERIARRBAHNEEARK AL EEEN AR
R TGk - BRI R S E
FEBHEIRR ~ RAGH e E BB H MR T B
RAREEEI R - EEIRIR A RAVEER IS R CE
(RATETHE ST AERES - WEIHE R - BRESRK
B BEAfETAL - EER A SRR R R 2
[{F=Fall
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

In determining the carrying amounts of some
assets and liabilities, the Group makes
assumptions of the effects of uncertain future
events on those assets and liabilities at the balance
sheet date. These estimates involve assumptions
about such items as risk adjustment to cash flows
or discount rates used, future changes in salaries
and future changes in prices affecting other costs.
The Group’s estimates and assumptions are based
on historical experience and expectations of future
events and are reviewed periodically. In addition
to assumptions and estimations of future events,
judgements are also made during the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and amortisation of computer software

The Group determines the estimated useful lives
for related depreciation charges for property, plant
and equipment and amortisation of computer
software. = Management will revise the
depreciation or amortisation charges where useful
lives are different to previously estimated.

Valuation of investments

The fair values of financial instruments traded in
active markets are based on quoted bid prices at
the balance sheet date. The fair values of
financial instruments that are not traded in an
active market are determined using established
techniques. The Group uses its
judgement to select valuation methods and pricing
sources to make assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the end of
each reporting period.

valuation
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Adoption of new / revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards

For the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group has
adopted all the new and revised standards and
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards
that are effective for the accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and
relevant to the operations of the Group.

The Group has assessed the impact of the
adoption of these amendments and considered
that there was no significant impact on the
Group’s results and financial position nor any
substantial changes to the Group’s accounting
policies and presentation of the financial
statements.

The principal accounting policies applied in the
preparation of the financial statements of the
Group are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the University and
entities controlled by the University made up to
30 June each year.

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the
date that control ceases.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by
other members of the Group.

All significant intercompany transactions and
balances within the group are eliminated on
consolidation.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT’D)

Interest in an Associate and a Joint
Arrangement

An associate is an entity over which the Group
has significant influence and that is neither a
subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.

The results and assets and liabilities of an
associate are incorporated in the consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of
accounting. Interest in an associate is carried in
the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted
by post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share
of the net assets of the associate, less any
impairment loss.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the associates.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted
by the Group.

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which
two or more parties have joint control and over
which none of the participating parties has
unilateral control.  Investments in joint
arrangements are classified either as joint
ventures or joint operations, depending on the
contractual rights and obligations each party has.
Joint ventures arise where the participating
parties have rights to the net assets of the
arrangement. A joint venture partner accounts
for an investment in such an arrangement using
the equity method. The equity method records
the initial investment at cost which is adjusted
periodically to reflect the changes in value due to
the share of the joint venture’s performance.
Joint operations arise where the participating
parties have specific rights and obligations under
the arrangement to the assets and liabilities of an
arrangement. Each participating party accounts
for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
relating to its own rights and obligations to the
joint operation in accordance with the HKFRS
Accounting  Standards applicable to the
particular assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT’D)

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are stated at cost less
accumulated  depreciation and  accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
other than construction in progress, is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs,
net of the residual values, if any, over the estimated
useful lives. Depreciation is charged from the month
when the asset is ready for use.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any
identified impairment loss and is not depreciated
until completion of construction. Cost of completed
construction works is transferred to appropriate
categories of property, plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. The gain or loss arising
from derecognition of an asset, representing the
difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of that asset is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Intangible Assets
Computer software

Computer software costs are capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software and are stated in the consolidated
balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation.

Amortisation of computer software is charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
a straight-line basis over the assets’ estimated useful
lives. Amortisation is charged from the month when
the asset is ready for use.

Computer software under development is not
amortised until ready for use.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT’D)

Financial Assets
Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following categories:

(a) those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income (“OCI”) or through income and
expenditure), and

(b) those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the cash
flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in income and
expenditure or OCI. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for
trading, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at
the time of initial recognition to account for
the equity investment at FVOCI.

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model for
managing those assets changes.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through income
and expenditure (“FVIE”), transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial
assets carried at FVIE are expensed in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT’D)

Financial Assets (Cont’d)

Debt investments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model for
managing the asset and the contractual cash flow

characteristics of the asset.

There are three

measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

(@)

(b)

(©)

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. A gain or loss on a debt
instrument that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost is recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income when the asset is derecognised or
impaired. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in interest and
investment income using the effective
interest rate method.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows and for sale, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the
carrying amount are taken through other
comprehensive except for the
recognition of impairment losses, interest
income using the effective interest rate
method and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
When asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income and recognised in
interest and investment income.

income,

income. the financial

FVIE: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost or FVOCI are measured
at FVIE. A gain or loss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at
FVIE is recognised and presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive
income within interest and investment
income in the period in which it arises.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT’D)

Financial Assets (Cont’d)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has made an irrevocable election at
initial recognition to present fair value gains and
losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, on derecognition of the
investment, there is no subsequent reclassification
of fair value gains and losses to income and
expenditure and any balance within other
comprehensive  income for these equity
investments is reclassified to other funds as a fund
movement. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income when the
Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at
FVIE are recognised and presented in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income

within interest and investment income as
applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments

measured at FVOCI are not reported separately
from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI.
The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivables are initially recognised at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less
allowances for expected credit losses. The Group
measured the loss allowance for its accounts
receivables at an amount equal to the lifetime
expected credit losses. Appropriate allowance for
estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income when there is objective evidence that the
asset is impaired.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT’D)

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and deposits available on demand with an original
maturity of 3 months or less.

Accounts payable, accruals, deferred income
and contract liabilities

Accounts payable and accruals and deferred
income are initially measured at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest rate method.

Funds earmarked for specific purposes are
recognised as income to the extent of the related
expenditure incurred during the reporting period.
Funds received but not yet recognised as income
are recorded as deferred income.

Contract liabilities primarily relate to the advance
consideration received from customers, where the
Group has the unconditional right to
considerations before the goods or services are
delivered. They are released and revenues are
recognised when the performance obligations are
satisfied upon transferring of goods and services
to customers.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that the Group will be required to
settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligation at the balance
sheet date, and are discounted to present value
where the effect is material.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
Impairment

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If the recoverable amount of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, such that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
as income immediately.

Deferred Capital Funds

Deferred capital funds represent funds from
subventions and grants or donations spent by the
Group on the purchase of property, plant and
equipment as well as intangible assets. These funds are
recognised as income in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income to match against the
depreciation charges of the related asset items over
their estimated useful lives.

Recognition of Income

(a) Government subventions and grants
Government subventions and grants are
recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them; and that the
subventions and grants will be received.

Grants earmarked for specific purposes are
recognised as income to the extent of the related
expenses are incurred during the reporting
period.

Subvention and grants spent on capital
expenditure are initially recorded as deferred
capital funds and recognised as income to match
against the depreciation charges of the related
asset items over their estimated useful lives.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

25.14 Recognition of Income (Cont’d)
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(a)

(b)

(0

(d)

(e

Government subventions and grants (Cont’d)

Government subventions and grants that become
repayment are accounted for as a change in
accounting estimate. Repayment of government
subventions and grants related to income is
applied first against any unamortised deferred
income recognised in respect of the government
subventions and grants. To the extent that the
repayment exceeds any such deferred income, or
when no deferred income exists, the repayment is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Donations

Donations without conditions in cash or cash
equivalents or other investment instruments are
recognised as income when received or
receivable.  Outstanding pledges are not
recognised as income unless a legal obligation on
the donor can be established by the Group.

Donations received with a specific purpose are
recognised as income to the extent of the related
expenditure incurred during the reporting period.

Tuition, programmes and other fees

Tuition, programmes and other fees are
recognised over time when the services are
rendered and the Group’s performance provides
the  benefits received and  consumed
simultaneously by the students. Tuition,
programmes and other fees recognised on an
accrual basis and unearned fees are included in
contract liabilities.

Interest income

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued
on a time basis, by reference to the principal
outstanding and at the interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discount the
estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s
net carrying amount.

Research contract income

Income from contract research is recognised over
the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. The progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to the
expenses incurred up to the end of reporting
period as a percentage of total estimated costs for
each contract.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT’D)

Recognition of Income (Cont’d)

() Licensing income

Licensing income is recognised on a straight
line basis over the contract period when a
customer is granted with a right to access the
patents as it exists throughout the licence
period. Alternatively, licensing income is
recognised at a single point in time upon
delivery of the patents when a customer is
provided with a right to use the patents as it
exists at the point in time at which the
licence is granted.

Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis. Lease
liabilities are measured at the net present value of
the remaining fixed lease payments. Lease
payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the
measurement of the liabilities. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease.

Lease payments are allocated between principal
and lease interest expense. The lease interest
expense is charged to the statement of
comprehensive income over the lease period so as
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.

Lease liabilities are classified as non-current
liabilities unless payments are payable within 12
months from the balance sheet date.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost
comprising the amount of the initial measurement
of lease liability. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated over the lease terms on a straight-line
basis. Payments associated with short-term leases
with lease terms of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets are expensed on a straight-line
basis in the statement of comprehensive income.

Lease income from operating leases where the
University is a lessor is recognised in income on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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PRINCIPAL
(CONT’D)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Retirement Benefits Costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans are recognised in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income when
employees have rendered service entitling them to
the contribution.

For long service payment ("LSP") obligation, the
Group accounts for the employer MPF
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed
employee contribution towards the LSP obligation
in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is measured on
a net basis. The estimated amount of future
benefit is determined after deducting the negative
service cost arising from the accrued benefits
derived from the Group’s MPF contributions that
have been vested with employees, which are
deemed to be contributions from the relevant
employees.

Foreign Currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Group’s presentation currency.

(a) Foreign currency transactions are translated
into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income.
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PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT’D)

Foreign Currencies (Cont'd)

(b) The results and financial position of all
Group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:

. Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet.

. Income and expenditure for each statement
of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average
is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions); and all
resulting  exchange  differences  are
recognised as a separate component of
equity.

Cost Allocation for UGC-funded and non-UGC
funded activities for segment reporting

In compiling the segment reporting for
compliance with the Cost Allocation Guidelines
for UGC-funded and non-UGC-funded Activities
(“the Guidelines”) effective from 1 July 2018,
costs associated with UGC activities, non-UGC
activities or shared activities are identified. Costs
directly attributable to UGC or non-UGC
activities are not subject to cost allocation. Shared
costs are allocated to UGC and non-UGC
segments using appropriate cost drivers including
teaching credits of UGC and non-UGC
programmes, the number of student Full Time
Equivalents (“FTE”), floor area, etc.. Costs
funded by donations are regarded as direct costs
and reported under the Non-UGC Segment.
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF NEW STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS PUBLISHED

THAT ARE NOT YET EFFECTIVE
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The Group has not early adopted the following new standards, amendments, and interpretations which have been issued
and are relevant to its operations but are not yet effective, in these financial statements:

BRI 21 5% (837)
Amendments to HKAS 21

ERM IR 9 9hR 7 9% (1B3T)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

R B S Gl 2 g - B 11
Annual improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Standards — Volume 11

BB RS4RI 18 57
HKFRS 18

BB SRR 19 9%
HKFRS 19

BB EAENIEE 10 SRR E BT AENIEE 28 5E

(&27)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

' R20256F 1 F 1 HECBAR BldA 2 AR AR AR -

B A S
Lack of exchangeability '

= K 2L a2
ST ESE R EIIEET
Amendments to the classification and measurement of

L 2
financial instruments

B S AR it
Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards

A TSR S 5 °

. . - . 3
Presentation and disclosure in financial statements

AT EH LT AT

Subsidiaries without public accountability: disclosures
WEHRIH RS B e M EE T et

Sale and Contribution of Assets between an Investor and

its Associate or Joint Venture *

Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

> A20264F 1 71 H ARG TR HARI A5 -

Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

P OA20274F 1 71 H ARt TR HARI A5 -

Effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

b ERHIE

Effective date to be determined.

BB IERLLA LR BRI ~ ERT M AR B R - RUPP ST FREBM SRS 18 9k —
MRS AP R T T E R R E R MR RS R A - G BOREM SR 2 25 & DR E RS

Management is currently assessing the impact of the above new standards, amendments and interpretations on the
Group’s financial statements. From the initial assessment, it is considered that there will be no significant impact to the
accounting policies or presentation of the financial statements, except for HKFRS 18, Presentation and disclosure in
financial statements, where the structure of the Group's consolidated statement of comprehensive income is expected to
change.
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